IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY SILIAH BROWN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 64,247

CLEWA, SUPREME COURT

MAY

1 1984

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

MICHAEL J. MINERVA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY SILIAH BROWN. :

Petitioner, :

vs. : CASE NO. 64,247

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The documents and transcripts incorporated in Volumes VI-VIII will be referenced by the symbol "R"; the trial transcript, contained in Volumes I-V, will be referenced by the symbol "TR". The appendix will be referenced by "APP".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Escambia County Grand Jury for first degree murder by premeditation or while engaged in a robbery, and for robbery committed while armed with a deadly weapon (R-844). [A co-defendant, Wydell Rogers, was also indicted on those charges but Rogers pled guilty to second degree murder and robbery without a firearm and testified for the state (TR-415)].

Before trial appellant's motions to suppress evidence (a watch) on the grounds of illegal search and seizure (R-1087-90) and to preclude challenging jurors for cause in the guilt phase because of opposition to capital punishment (R-902; R-1164-66) were denied [R-1150, 1151 (watch); R-968 (jurors)]. During jury selection four jurors were excused, over objection, because of their statements against capital punishment (TR-104-05).

Appellant was tried by jury and convicted of first degree felony murder and robbery with a firearm (R-1225-26). The same jury deliberated and recommended a life sentence (R-1229).

The trial judge imposed a death sentence (R-1249) and entered written findings in support of it (R-1237-39). (App.)

Adjudication of guilt was entered for the robbery (R-1227-28) but no sentence was imposed (R-1231-33).

Appellant's post-trial motion for new trial, based in part upon the weight of the evidence, was denied (R-1231-33).

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Rebecca Sirmons, bookkeeper at Veteran's Gas Company, received a telephone call from a person who said she was Annie Rivers about 3:30 or 3:45 p.m. on December 21, 1982. Rivers wanted gas delivered to 3905 Pine Forest Road. She said she needed gas right away but wanted the minimum she could get. Rivers was very reluctant to give her name. About five minutes after calling, Rivers called back asking where the gas was. Sirmons gave the order to a dispatcher to relay to deliveryman James Dassinger who was the driver for the area where Rivers lived (TR-154-60).

Sirmons said that the person who ordered the gas was a female (TR-156).

At about 5:15 that afternoon gas company officials became worried when Dassinger did not return from his route; they notified the sheriff's office he was missing at about 6:00 p.m. (TR-214).

Deputy Paul Schulz, who patrolled the Pine Forest Road area, was instructed to look for Dassinger and the gas truck (TR-164, 65). He went to a house and asked the location of the address that had been given. Wydell Rogers (the co-defendant) told Schulz that was his address but denied ordering gas or seeing a gas truck. Rogers asked his girlfriend and another woman at the house and they also denied knowing about a gas delivery (TR-166, 67). This occurred before dark, about 6:30 p.m. (TR-168). Later Schulz was sent to Rogers' residence.

It was a quarter mile past the house where he earlier saw Rogers. There he found another officer, a Veteran's Gas truck, and a body. Rogers was there also (TR-170-73).

Deputy James Korinsky went to the scene about 8:30 p.m. Two other deputies were already there and a man and a woman were talking to the officers (TR-178, 79).

Korinsky examined the dead body, which had a large wound under the left armpit (TR-192). No identification or wallet were found (TR-193).

Blood was dripping on the outside of the driver's door and below it (TR-183-85); State's Exhibits 6-12). A pad in the truck contained a list of names, the last one being Annie Rivers (TR-262; Defense Exhibit 4).

Two expended 410 shot shells were found about 150 feet from the truck (TR-189) and another was found near a pair of sunglasses on a path (TR-286). Two shoeprints which looked like tennis shoes were found about 150 feet southeast of Rogers' house (TR-199).

Robert Pearson, an officer of Veteran's Gas Company, went to the scene and identified the body as that of James Dassinger. No gas had been delivered at the house. Pearson calculated that \$225.00 in cash was missing. One of the people at the scene was Annie Rivers (TR-210-27).

Latent fingerprints taken from the gas truck were compared with the known prints of Rogers and appellant, but none matched (TR-193-95, 257, 276-77).

Evidence technician Danny Lodge examined the body at the scene. Under the left arm was a round hole about the size of a dime which appeared to be a contact wound (TR-256D). Lodge believed a 410 shotgun caused the wound because of the size and number of pellets in the body (TR-256M).

Lodge had noticed splatters of blood on the gas truck. Later that night he examined the appellant at the sheriff's department and noticed his watch appeared to have a small spot of blood. The watch was taken as evidence. Lodge

said some of the blood splatters just above the running board on the door facing were similar in size or shape to those found on the appellant's watch (TR- 265T). Appellant was wearing some type of hard toe shoe like a loafer that night (TR- 256BB). When analyzed, the spot on the watch was found to be blood (TR-582).

Deputy Rhett Smith had also been at the scene after the shooting. He asked appellant, who arrived there during the investigation, to come to the sheriff's office for questioning. After being advised of his rights and signing a waiver, appellant stated that he was a friend of Rogers, had not seen him in some time, and stopped by to visit. He had been at a pool hall in Atmore, Alabama seeing some friends at approximately 3:00 to 4:00 p.m. and he had just returned to Pensacola when he went to see Rogers. Later, after being told that other people had seen him and Rogers together that day, appellant said he had seen Rogers earlier and had come back to see him again. He did not go to the pool hall just to see friends but went there to buy drugs (TR-299-300, 303). Appellant had a fresh track mark on the inside of his left elbow described as an injection mark, with blood still oozing from the injection (TR-300). Appellant said he knew nothing about the homicide (TR-301).

Appellant said he had been at the Oaks Tavern most of the afternoon but had gone to Atmore with two other people between 3:00 and 4:00 p.m. and had stayed until he arrived at Rogers'. He had purchased drugs at the pool hall in Atmore, calling them T's and blues. He bought one of each for himself (TR-304).

Deputy Ray Rathlev was at the scene on the 21st and saw Rogers and Rivers there. Statements were taken from them that evening and again the next day. Rogers was supposed to come back in for questioning on the 26th or 27th but did not do so (TR-326). He also did not appear on the 28th as requested (TR-327). On the 29th an unserved warrant against Rogers for grand theft was found and when Rathlev spotted Rogers' car, he took him to the sheriff's department. Rogers'

brother, Norman, and a friend, Clatie Frost went along (TR-329, 30).

Several statements were taken from Rogers (R-331, 32). Before any tape recording was made Rogers said he had heard who was involved in the robbery and killing (TR-333). In the first recorded statement Rogers did not implicate himself but did in the second statement. He named others and based on that information appellant and Ulysses Robinson (who had come with appellant to Rogers' house on the 21st) were sought by investigators (TR-337).

Rathlev had interviewed appellant and his recorded statement was played at trial. In his statement appellant said on Tuesday, the 21st, he was home washing his car in the morning; he stayed at home until 1:00 or 1:30 and drove to the Oaks Tavern where he saw Rogers. They bought a six pack of beer, brought it back to the tavern and drank it. Between 3:00 and 3:30 he asked Rogers to take him home. He stayed home and ate and then walked back to the tavern at about 4:00 or 4:30. Then he, Zollie Bryant and Ulysses Robinson went to Atmore. Appellant had about \$58.00 and bought gas and a bag of dope. They returned to the Oaks and he and Robinson went to Rogers' house to give him two pills.

When asked about the spot of blood on his watch appellant said he did not know how it got there (TR-344L). Appellant said he had seen the gas delivery man at his house when they used butane gas (TR-344M). The only reason appellant knew for Rogers implicating him in a murder was that Rogers had pulled a sawed off shotgun on him several months before (TR-344Q).

By stipulation the time of sunset on December 21st was established at 4:52 p.m. (TR-367).

Annie Rivers said that on December 21st she and Wydell Rogers were living together. She had previously ordered gas from Veterans two or three time but not on the 21st. She had left her house at 7:30 that day to visit her mother who lived about three miles away; Rogers picked her up about 4:00 p.m. and

they went to the Bright Lights Cafe. They went downtown and visited Clay Davis, (it wasn't dark yet when they arrived there) and left there about 7:30. They returned briefly to the Bright Lights, then went to the Oaks Tavern, then toward home. On the way they stopped to see Viola Issacs, a neighbor, where they stayed from about 8:00 until 8:30.

When she and Rogers then drove to their house they found the gas truck and the body and returned to Issac's house where Rogers called the police (TR-367-81). Rogers had not told her what he had been doing that day (TR-382).

Wydell Rogers said that on the 21st of December he took Annie Rivers to her mother's and later went to Molino to see Anthony Clayton who told him Dave Davis had left word to be picked up on Mobile Highway. Rogers and Clayton went there and saw Davis walking with his girlfriend. They picked them up, took the girl to her aunt's house in Molino, and dropped Clayton off.

Rogers and Davis went to the Crispy Chick Restaurant and ate lunch; they also shopped for sunglasses. Afterward, about 1:00 or 1:30 they went to the Oaks in Cantonment. They were sitting in the car listing to music when appellant came over and asked Rogers to step out of the car. Appellant began talking about the gas man, saying he had seen him the day before dropping off gas and being paid a dollar a gallon. He said Rogers could go to the telephone and order gas for his house, which was in a secluded area. After listening to appellant Rogers "just more or less went along with it." (TR-427-48).

Rogers and appellant got in Rogers' car. They went to appellant's mother's house where he obtained a change of clothes, carrying them in a brown paper bag; then to a Jr. Food Store on the corner of Untreiner and Detroit Streets so appellant could make the call. Davis, who was with them, went into the store to get a drink or beer. Rogers and appellant went to the phone booth and Rogers stood up beside him at the telephone. Appellant asked for a quarter and called

the gas company after first calling information to get the number. He ordered 50 gallons of gas. Before the phone was answered appellant asked Rogers his girlfriend's name (TR-430-31). Appellant did not talk in his normal voice but more or less disguised it in ladylike fashion, during the call.

Just before appellant finished the conversation Rogers walked from the phone booth and urinated. He could see appellant from where he then was at the side of the store. When Rogers came back to the car appellant was no longer standing at the phone booth. Rogers did not know if appellant had made one call or two. The time when appellant was on the telephone was not later than 3:00 p.m. (TR-480).

After the call the three men drove to Rogers' house (TR-433, 34). While Davis stayed in the car, Rogers and appellant got out and Rogers got a 410 shot-gun and some shells from underneath the house. He gave them to appellant, who loaded the gun. Rogers went back to the car and drove a short distance to a store and filling station on the corner of Highway 297 and Pine Forest Road. Appellant stayed at the house (TR-435-37). The plan was for appellant to wait in the bushes until the deliveryman came (TR-438).

While waiting at the store Rogers saw the gas truck. It turned in front of where he and Davis were parked and then headed for the house on Pine Forest (TR-440). Rogers was not able to see his house from the store (TR-441). After five or ten more minutes Rogers, who had not heard any shots, drove down the road to pick up appellant as planned. Appellant was not where he was supposed to be. Returning to the store, Rogers saw appellant standing on the side of the road waving (TR-441, 42). He stopped and picked up appellant, who sat in the back because Davis was in the front. Appellant no longer had the shotgun and Rogers had not seen it again (TR-442).

In the car appellant leaned forward and told Rogers he shot the gas man but

did not know if the man was dead (TR-444). Rogers saw that appellant had a wallet and a check (TR-452). Rogers drove appellant home and while he stood outside the car appellant put fifty dollars over the sun visor (this was in case anyone asked if Rogers could pay for the gas) (TR-452). The time then was after 3:00 p.m.

Davis was dropped off next and Rogers picked up his girlfriend, Annie Rivers (TR-447). They went to the Bright Lights, then visited Clayton Davis (until ten to seven). They came back to the Bright Lights, then went to the Oaks. When Rivers went inside the Oaks, Rogers saw appellant, who said he had gone back for the gun (TR-451). Appellant did not say what he had done with it.

While at the Issacs', before going home, Rogers was asked about an address on Pine Forest Road. Rogers and Rivers then went home, found the body, and called the police (TR-455-57).

According to David Davis, who testified for the state, he and Rogers were parked in Rogers' car at the Oaks on the afternoon of December 21st when appellant came over. Davis had not met appellant before (TR-520). Appellant wanted to speak with Rogers; Davis went in the tavern and did not hear their conversation (TR-522, 23). Rogers told Davis they were going to the beach but first they had to go to appellant's house (TR-524).

At Rogers' house Davis stayed in the car while the other two went in to change clothes (TR-524, 25). Rogers returned to the car first and drove to a service station on the corner. Appellant came back to the car and knocked on the window while the car was parked at the corner (TR-526).

When appellant came back to the car he and Rogers cancelled the beach trip.
Rogers drove appellant home.

Davis was never fingerprinted by the police (TR-541) and his prints were never compared with those taken from the gas truck (TR-283).

Assistant State Attorney John Spencer testified that he had nolle prossed two charges against Rogers because of insufficient evidence and information (TR-570-74). The charges were dropped on April 20, 1983 and April 15, 1983. They related to stolen property, clothes and a 410 shotgum.

Ulysses Robinson had seen appellant on December 21st. Appellant was with Rogers and Davis and they left the Oaks in Rogers' car. He saw appellant again about 4:00 that afternoon when he (Robinson) was with Zollie Bryant. The three of them went to the Oaks and then to Atmore. Appellant bought liquor and gas. In Atmore they went to a pool hall and while Robinson was driving back appellant fixed T's and blues for Bryant and himself.

Later that evening Robinson went with appellant to Rogers' house. The police were there when they arrived (TR-561-67).

Annie Jean Gross was appellant's girlfriend on December 21st. She saw him at the Oaks about 9:00 p.m. and he offered her some pills (TR-568).

A pathologist who autopsied the body of James Dassinger said the cause of death was a gunshot from close range (within an inch). The wound was under the left armpit and would have been covered by the left arm when the arm was hanging down. The shot pellets were dispersed in a slightly upward pattern. Because of the massive bleeding, death was almost instanteous (TR-512-15).

Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal at the end of the state's case was denied (TR-584).

Members of appellant's family testified that he was home during major portions of the day on December 21st. His mother saw him when she left the house at 3:00 p.m. and saw him at home again at 9:00 p.m. when he told of being questioned by the police about the shooting (TR-585-87). His stepfather said appellant was in the yard washing his car when he left for work at 2:30 p.m. (TR-594-99).

Coincidentally, James Dassinger and appellant's stepfather had worked together

at Monsanto eight or ten years earlier. He did not believe Dassinger ever delivered gas to his house (TR-604).

Appellant's sister said he was away from the house for short periods during the day. Davis and Rogers dropped him off at noon. She contradicted her mother by saying appellant was not home at 3:00 p.m. when his mother left. She saw appellant at home again about 9:00 p.m. (TR-606-11).

Gary Shelor had two conversations with Wydell Rogers in April 1983 while they were prisoners being transported to the courthouse from the county jail. Talking about his crime, Rogers said that he was charged with murder, and had found a way to get out of it. He destroyed the gun (a shotgun) and it would never be found. During the second conversation, in a holding cell, Rogers said it was a murder-robbery; they had committed it for drugs and to buy Christmas presents for the children of his girlfriend or his wife. Rogers admitted committing the crime but was putting it off on a guy by the name of Pejoe (some people called appellant that) (TR-632-34).

On cross Shelor admitted that when deposed he had not remembered those conversations, but explained that he had developed a mental block. He had not wanted to become involved in the case then.

No other testimony was presented on the issue of guilt and the jury found appellant guilty of felony murder and robbery with a firearm.

^{1.} Ulysses Robinson, called by the defense, had been with appellant at the club that night at 9:00 p.m. (TR-672).

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE GRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

The trial leading to this death sentence was plagued with various errors which, accumulated, infected the proceeding as a whole. It is for a case like this one that Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(f) is reserved. The court in capital cases is directed by that rule to "review the evidence to determine if the interest of justice required a new trial " A new trial may be granted in a capital case for insufficiency of evidence.²

The evidentiary conflicts to be demonstrated here required granting a new trial either for abuse of discretion or in the interest of justice.

The Court should reevaluate <u>Tibbs'</u> restriction on granting or denying a new trial based on weight of the evidence. If a motion for new trial on that ground is authorized, the trial judge's ruling will, as here, be subject to appellate review. If the standard on review is abuse of discretion, undoubtedly there will be times when that showing can be made. The appellate court will need some way to gauge whether the lower court abused its discretion. Doing this will involve the appellate court in weighing the evidence to some extent.

By its ruling in $\underline{\text{Tibbs}}$ the United States Supreme Court has allayed possible fears that double jeopardy will bar a retrial when a verdict has been set aside because of the weight rather than the legal sufficiency of the evidence.

Under this Court's ruling in <u>Tibbs</u> an appellate court has only two alternatives regarding the evidence. Affirm or acquit. Judges may not reverse in close cases because of not wanting to acquit but might still believe the evidence is unsatisfactory for a conviction. Appellate courts should have the third option, now foreclosed by <u>Tibbs</u>, of awarding a new trial based on evidentiary weight. Without that authority the courts have no remedy for a case like this one. The <u>Tibbs</u> rule prohibiting reversal based on weight of the evidence should be reconsidered and modified. <u>Tibbs</u> v. Florida, 457 U.S. 31, 45, n. 22 (1982).

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