### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY SILIAH BROWN,

Appellant,

-v-

CASE NO. 64,247

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED S'D J. WHITE JUN 19 1984

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA CLERK, SUPKEME COURT

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

WALLACE E. ALLBRITTON Assistant Attorney General

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32301-8048
(904) 488-0290

## TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The complete record is bound in eight volumes with consecutive pagination and references thereto will be made by the symbol "R" followed by appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee accepts the statement of the case as set forth in appellant's brief on pp. 1, 2 thereof.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellee accepts the statement of the facts as set forth in appellant's brief on pp. 2-10 thereof. However, additional references to the facts will be made in the argument portion of this brief.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE GRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

With the profundity of a scriptural pronouncement of impending doom, appellant's brief opens with the thesis that this court is authorized to review the evidence to determine if the interests of justice require a new trial and that, indeed, a new trial may be granted in a capital case for insufficiency of evidence. With those sweeping pronouncements, appellee is compelled to agree. But with equal clarity appellee urges that the testimony of Wydell Rogers alone is sufficient to sustain the conviction (R 414-504). Brock v. State, 153 So. 900 (Fla. 1934);

Kellerman v. State, 261 So.2d 555 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972); Florida Standard Jury Instructions (Criminal Cases) 2.04(b).

### A. Weight of the Evidence

Appellant now asks this court to reweigh the evidence, calmly asserting that <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), <u>affirmed</u>, 457 U.S. 31 (1982), should be overruled. The rationale of <u>Tibbs</u> is that legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal. The argument is made that since the trial judge denied a motion for new trial based on the ground, <u>inter alia</u>, that the verdict is contrary to the weight of the evidence, this court must also weigh the

evidence in order to determine if the trial judge erred. This goes wide of the mark. The weight of evidence (which the trial judge may determine) is not the equivalent of sufficiency of the evidence which is determined at the appellate level. In other words, the reweighing of conflicting evidence which is permitted by the trial court on a motion for new trial is distinguished from an examination for sufficiency of evidence undertaken by an appellate court.

Gonzalez v. State, \_\_\_So.2d\_\_ (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), 9 FLW 867.

The appellate standard of review for a motion granting a new trial is whether the trial court committed a clear abuse of discretion. Cloud v. Fallis, 110 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1959). Evidentiary conflicts do not supply this "clear abuse of discretion." Admittedly, there were conflicts in the testimony but this does not mandate reversal by this court as long as the evidence is sufficient as a matter of law to sustain the convic-It has long been law that all conflicts in the evidence and reasonable inferences are resolved in support of the verdict. Boyd v. State, 122 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960); Crum v. State, 172 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965); Walden v. State, 191 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966); Sellers v. State, 212 So.2d 659 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968); Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980). <u>See also Meyers v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 371 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), holding that evidence was sufficient to sustain conviction, notwithstanding conflicts in the testimony of the state's sole witness as to the facts. After all, it is the province of

the jury, not of the court, to resolve discrepancies in testimony and to choose between competing inferences of fact. <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Tropiano</u>, 418 F.2d 1069 (2d Cir. 1970), <u>cert. denied</u>,

25 L.Ed.2d 530. The question of guilt or innocence is one of fact and this court does not substitute its judgment for that of a jury on a question of fact. <u>Sealey v. State</u>, 46 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1950); Songer v. State, 322 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1975).

Appellant's argument under this point seems to be an effort to point the finger of guilt toward Wydell Rogers or David Davis, i.e., anybody but himself. However, it is not necessary that the evidence exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence or be wholly inconsistent with every conclusion except that of guilt, provided a reasonable trier of fact could find that the evidence establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. In other words, a jury is free to choose among reasonable constructions of the evidence. United States v. Kincade, 714 F.2d 1064 (11th Cir. 1983). Appellee has long believed that the remarks of Justice Carter, writing for a unanimous court in People v. White, 278 P.2d 9 (Cal. 1955), en banc, exemplify the position of an appellate court in passing upon a sufficiency of evidence question. Please note:

It is true that an appellate court will not uphold a judgment or verdict based upon evidence which is inherently improbable; however it is not sufficient that the circumstances disclosed by the testimony are merely unusual. Kidroski v. Anderson, 39 Cal.App.2d

602, 605, 103 P.2d 1000. As stated by this court in People v. Huston, 21 Cal.2d 690, 693, 134 P.2d 758, 759, "To warrant the rejection of the statements given by a witness who has been believed by a trial court, there must exist either a physical impossibility that they are true, or their falsity must be apparent without resorting to inferences or deductions. Farnsworth, 25 Cal.App.2d 212, 219, 77 P.2d 295; Lufkin v. Patten-Blinn Lumber Co., 15 Cal.App.2d 259, 262, 59 P.2d 414; Agoure v. Spinks Realty Co., 5 Cal.App.2d 444, 451, 42 P.2d 660; Hughes v. Quackenbush, 1 Cal.App.2d 259,262, 37 P.2d 99; Powell v. Powell, 40 Cal.App. 155, 158, 159, 180 P. Conflicts and even testimony which is subject to justifiable suspicion do not justify the reversal of a judgment, for it is the exclusive province of the trial judge or jury to determine the credibility of a witness and the truth or falsity of the facts upon which a determination depends. [Citations omitted.]"

#### Id. at 14.

## B. <u>Limiting Cross-examination</u>

Appellant seeks to capitalize on the ruling of the trial judge excluding the proffered testimony of defense witness, David H. Howell (R 626), offered for the purpose, presumably, of impeaching the testimony of Wydell Rogers on a collateral issue, i.e., possession of firearms other than a .410 gauge shotgun after the date of the murder. Rogers had testified that he had possessed a twelve gauge, sawed-off shotgun approximately three months prior to the murder but had disposed of it by burying it

in a wooded area (R 496, 497). Rogers also testified that other than the .410 shotgun which he had given to appellant and was never recovered, the only other gun possessed by him was a 30-30 Winchester. Rogers stated that he didn't own the gun but a "guy from Quintet" gave it to him because he—the guy from Quintet—wanted someone else to see the gun, "a friend of mine [Rogers] that I used to work with a long time ago." Rogers stated that he gave the gun back to the guy and did nothing with it while he had it (R 498). The prosecution did object and was sustained by the trial judge on the ground of lack of relevancy (R 499). Appel—lant's trial counsel then indicated that he would call a witness to show that Rogers was not telling the truth under oath. The trial judge relented and permitted the testimony (R 500, line 16—501, line 9).

Whether the 30-30 Winchester mentioned by Rogers (R 498) is the same weapon as the "3006 rifle" mentioned by the witness Howell, we simply do not know. If it was the same rifle, then more than likely it was the one that Rogers received from the "guy from Quintet" for the purpose of showing to someone else. It is obvious that Howell at some time in the past had known Rogers (R 623) and the only reasonable conclusion is that Rogers received the rifle from the guy in Quintet for the purpose of showing it to Howell in an effort to sell it. The only possible impeachment that could come out of all this is when appellant's trial counsel asked Rogers "[t]o you[r] knowledge, have you ever

had any other guns in your possession?" Rogers answered: to my knowledge." (R 501) If it is this kind of thing that appellant is relying on for reversible error, then he must indeed be hard-pushed. Rogers' testimony that he gave the 30-30 rifle back to the guy from Quintet was never challenged. Neither was his testimony that he kept the rifle "for about a day." (R 500, It should be remembered that Rogers was never asked if he had tried to sell a .306 rifle to David Howell just before Christmas in December, 1982. If this question had been asked and Rogers had responded in the negative, then Howell's testimony would have been admissible for impeachment purposes, albeit on a collateral after-the-fact issue. But as the record stands, assuming that the .306 rifle mentioned by Howell was the same rifle as the 30-30 mentioned by Rogers, then this was the only rifle that Rogers had possessed. Consequently, there can be no impeachment because Rogers was never asked if he had attempted to sell the rifle to David Howell shortly before Christmas in 1982. In any event, the testimony of Rogers sought to be impeached was elicited on cross-examination and it is the position of appellee that the cross-examiner was bound by the answer. But even if not, it must first be shown that the irrelevant or collateral issue-testimony--would be prejudicial if not rebutted. Carter v. State, 101 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958). When viewed as a whole, it is difficult to see where the testimony of Rogers was prejudicial to appellant. At least, appellant has failed to direct this court's

attention to--or even claim--any resultant prejudice. This issue is controlled by <u>Gelabert v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). Please note:

However, when a question, posed on cross-examination, relates only to a matter collateral and non-material to any issue at trial, the witness' answer to the question is deemed conclusive. Consequently, the witness cannot be impeached with regard to this testimony by any of the normal means of subsequent impeachment, including contradiction testimony by another witness. Although stated various ways, this general evidentiary philosophy of exclusion has been a part of Florida jurisprudence for many years. Thus, it has been said:

But the answer of a witness on cross-examination respecting any fact irrelevant to the issue will be conclusive, and no such question can be put on cross-examination merely for the purpose of impeaching his credit by contradicting him. Stewart v. State, 42 Fla. 591, 28 815, 816 (1900).

The reasoning behind the rule has been attributed to the evidentiary philosophy that a party cannot impeach his own witness and when the question is outside the scope of direct examination and on a collateral matter, the crossexaminer adopts the witness as his own.

Id. at 1009. As noted, <u>supra</u>, there was no restriction on the cross-examination of Rogers. Even if there had been, the supposition that Rogers "might have possessed weapons that could have been used to commit the murder," is too tenuous to establish materiality in the constitutional sense. <u>United States v. Agurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97 (1976); State v. Sobel, 63 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1978).

### C. Other Errors

- 1. Appellant claims error because of the alleged unnecessary introduction of the widow and daughters of James Dassinger (victim) to the jury during voir dire. This is a frivolous argument as the record shows (R 43, 44) that this was done as a precautionary measure to ensure an impartial jury. There was no objection, understandably so, and the issue has not been preserved for appellate review. State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974).
- 2. While reference to Rogers' willingness to take a lie detector test was made on direct examination, no mention of the results thereof was made. No objection was made to the now complained-of remarks and appellate review thereof is foreclosed. State v. Barber, supra. The now challenged comments cannot in the context of the instant case rise to the stature of fundamental error. Cf. Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (1974); Sullivan v. Wainwright, 695 F.2d 1305 (11th Cir. 1983). Please see the discussion of fundamental error in Gibson v. State, 194 So.2d 19, 20 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967), quoted with approval by this court in State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970).
- 3. To take the sting out of any possible cross-examination as to the written plea agreement between Rogers and the State of Florida, the details thereof were immediately elicited by the prosecution on Rogers' direct examination (R 414-418) and then

introduced in evidence as state's exhibit twenty-one without objection from appellant's trial counsel (R 418). State's exhibit twenty mentioned in appellant's brief on p. 19 is the letter that Rogers received along with the plea "explaining the plea to me and everything" (R 419). Appellant's trial counsel apparently well knew that the written plea agreement, as well as the letter explaining same, were admissible in evidence and for this reason lodged no objection thereto. United States v. Henderson, 717 F.2d 135 (4th Cir. 1983); United States v. Winter, 663 F.2d 1120 (1st Cir. 1981); United States v. Hedman, 630 F.2d 1184 (7th Cir. 1980). Indeed, if the jury had not been properly informed of the details of the plea bargain agreement between Rogers and the State of Florida, it may well have been error necessitating a resentencing hearing. Messer v. State, 330 So.2d 137, 141 (Fla. 1976).

Appellant further complains that it was error for the prosecution to elicit testimony from assistant state attorney John Spencer as to his reasons for nolle prossing two other charges against Rogers. See appellant's brief, p. 20, n. 7. True, appellant's trial counsel did object but not on the ground that Spencer's testimony would be improper bolstering. The basis of the objection was that Spencer's testimony would constitute a conflict of interest (R 569, lines 9-13). The trial judge properly overruled the objection.

Spencer's testimony was obviously elicited for the purpose of showing that the nolle prossing of the two other charges against Rogers had nothing to do with Rogers' plea bargain agreement and his testimony in court. Had this not been done, appellant's trial counsel could well have argued that Rogers' testimony had been bought and paid for by the state's nolle prossing those charges. This factual situation does not even resemble that presented to the court in Tait v. State, 112 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1959), where this court predicated reversible error on the argument of the state attorney advising the jury that he and his staff had considered "the matter before trial and had concluded that the death penalty should be requested." Id. at 384. decision in Wilson v. State, 371 So.2d 126 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), is similarly inapposite. Sub judice, the prosecutor did not say that she believed with all her "heart, mind and soul" that appellant was guilty. Id. at 127. Neither did the prosecutor comment, even indirectly, on the failure of appellant to take the stand and testify in his own behalf.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE SEIZURE OF APPELLANT'S WRISTWATCH WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION, OR Art. I, §12, State Const.

This issue was raised on motion to suppress (R 1087), denied by the trial judge without prejudice to renew same at a

later time (R 1117). The issue is properly before the court for appellate review.

At trial the deposition of Deputy Danny Lodge was read into evidence without objection (R 254, line 20-255, line 17). Deputy Lodge testified that he first saw appellant in the interview room on the second floor of the administrative building of the sheriff's department. This was approximately 1 a.m. on December 22, 1982. Deputy Smith was present when Lodge examined appellant for any traces of blood or anything else that might have come from the scene (R 256-0). This was a routine procedure in the course of a homicide investigation (R 256-F). Deputy Lodge testified that appellant was cooperative but did not recall whether he took the watch off appellant's arm or whether appellant removed it. Appellant was not under arrest, not in custody, and a receipt was given him for the watch (R 256-Q). On cross-examination, the voluntariness of appellant's handing over the watch to Deputy Lodge was never challenged (R 256-V-256BB).

Deputy Timothy Rhett Smith (R 284) testified that Deputy

Lodge asked appellant to let him see the watch whereupon appellant removed the watch from his wrist and handed it to Deputy

Lodge (R 291). Lodge then advised appellant that the watch would
be taken into custody and appellant did not in any way object (R

292). The watch was offered in evidence as state's exhibit four
and, over objection of appellant's trial counsel, admitted by the

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